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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO
Honorable Marcia S. Krieger

Civil Action No. 12-cv-02749-M SK
R. KIRK MCDONALD,

Plaintiff,
V.
J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
CITIBANK, N.A., and
CHASE FUNDING MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET BACKED CERTIFICATE 2002-4,

Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER ON MOTIONSFOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

THISMATTER comes before the Court on crosstimas for summary judgment. The
Defendants filed a Motiofor Summary Judgment199), the Plaintiff, Kirk McDonald,
responded#204), and the Defendants replieg2(1). Mr. McDonald also filed a Motion for
Summary Judgmen#202), the Defendants respondet210), and Mr. McDonald replied
(#214).

ISSUES PRESENTED

Mr. McDonald appearpro s€. His Amended Complaint#4) asserted several claims
against the Defendants, however, the Court dised all but three claims in its January 30, 2014
order. Three remaining claims are: (1) failtwgorovide a good faith estimate when Mr.

McDonald submitted a loan application in violatminthe Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act

! The Court is mindful of Mr. McDonald’sro sestatus, and accordinglreads his pleadings
and filings liberally. See Haines v. Kerne#04 U.S. 519, 520-21 (1972ge alsalrackwell v.
United States Goy#72 F.3d 1242, 1243 (10th Cir. 2007).
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(“RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 260&t seq. (2) failure to provide notice afhange in loan servicers as
required by RESPA provisionsna (3) failure to respond to MMcDonald’s written requests
for information in violaton of C.R.S. § 38-40-103.

The Defendants move for summary judgment on each of Mr. McDonald’s remaining
claims. Mr. McDonald’s motion daeenot address these claims, but instead focuses on claims that
have been previously dismissed, notably higteotion that his notena deed of trust were
fraudulently assigned.

MATERIAL FACTS

For purposes of summary judgment, the Court views the submissions in the light most
favorable to the non-moving party. This medmat for the Defendant’s motion, the Court
generally construes thadts in the light most favorable kdr. McDonald. However, consistent
with the Court’s Order#208) dated July 17, 2014, the Courtshdisregarded the arguments and
evidence in Mr. McDonald’s filings that pam to claims that have been dismissed.

On September 12, 2002, Mr. McDonald bevea the principal sum of $348,000 from
Chase Manhattan Mortgage Corporation (“CMM@id secured repayment of such funds with a
lien against his home. Mr. McDoldeexecuted a promissory notedaa deed of trust. The note
provided “I understand that the h@er may transfer this Not&€he Lender or anyone who takes
this Note by transfer and whoaesititled to receive payments umndieis Note is called the ‘Note
Holder.” The Deed of Trust provided that thedté or a partial interest in the Note (together
with this Security Instrument) can be solde or more times without prior notice to the
Borrower.”

CMMC transferred the note and deed aftrto Citibank, N.A, as Trustee for Chase

Funding Mortgage Loan Asset-Backed CertifgsatSeries 2002-4 (Citibank), which is the



current owner of the note and deed of trilGMMC continued to service the loan. CMMC
merged into Chase Home Finance LLC, which in turn merged into J.P. Morgan Chase Bank,
National Association in May 2011. CMMC and its sessors have continued to service the loan,
and consequently none of these entities has served Mr. McDonald matice of service

transfer under RESPA.

In 2009, Mr. McDonald submitted a new loan application and a loan modification
application to J.P. Morgan Chase. His ergtioan was not modified and no refinancing was
approved. Mr. McDonald then defaulted on his loan. Citibank commenced foreclosure
proceedings. Although Mr. McDonald sought tdagethe foreclosure proceedings, his requests
were denied, and the property was sold public trustee foreclose sale in 2012.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procezltacilitates the entrgf a judgment only if
no trial is necessargeeWhite v. York Intern. Corp45 F.3d 357, 360 (10th Cir. 1995).
Summary adjudication is authorizedhen there is no genuine dispws to any material fact and
a party is entitled to judgmeat a matter of law. Fed.RydP. 56(a). Substantive law governs
what facts are material and what issues muslelbermined. It also specifies the elements that
must be proved for a given claim or defense, detstandard of proof, and identifies the party
with the burden of prooSee Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In€77 U.S. 242, 248 (198&aiser—
Francis Oil Co. v. Producer's Gas G870 F.2d 563, 565 (10th Cir. 1989 factual dispute is
“genuine” and summary judgment is precludethd evidence presented in support of and
opposition to the motion is so contradictory thaprésented at trial, a judgment could enter for
either partySee Andersqrl77 U.S. at 248. When considering a summary judgment motion, a

court views all evidence in the light most faable to the non-movingarty, thereby favoring



the right to a trialSeeGarrett v. Hewlett Packard Co305 F.3d 1210, 1213 (10th Cir. 2002).

If the movant has the burden of proof onairal or defense, theawant must establish
every element of its claim or defense by sufficient, competent evideéeeeed.R.Civ.P.
56(c)(1)(A). Once the moving & has met its burden, to avoid summary judgment the
responding party must present sufficient, corapgtcontradictory adence to establish a
genuine factual disput&ee Bacchus Indus., Inc. v. Arvin Indus., 1889 F.2d 887, 891 (10th
Cir. 1991);Perry v. Woodward]99 F.3d 1126, 1131 (10th Cir. 1998)there is a genuine
dispute as to a material factireal is required. If there is no gaine dispute as to any material
fact, no trial is required. Theourt then applies the law the undisputed facts and enters
judgment.

If the moving party does not have the burden of proof at trial, it must point to an absence
of sufficient evidence to estaldtishe claim or defense that then-movant is obligated to prove.
If the respondent comes forward with suffidieompetent evidence to establish a prima facie
claim or defense, a trial is required. If thependent fails to produce sufficient competent
evidence to establish its claim or defense, themtbvant is entitled tiudgment as a matter of
law. See Celotex Corp. v. Catredff7 U.S. 317, 322—-23 (1986).

This case involves cross-motions for sumnjadgment. “Because the determination of
whether there is a genuine dispais to a material factual igsturns upon who has the burden of
proof, the standard of proof and whethercqaage evidence has been submitted to support a
prima faciecase or to establish a genuine disputi® asaterial fact, cross motions must be
evaluated independenthyiri re Ribozyme Pharmaceutisalnc., Securities Litig209 F.Supp.2d
1106, 1112 (D.Colo.20023ee also Atlantic Richfield Ce. Farm Credit Bank of Wichit226

F.3d 1138, 1148 (10th Cir.2000).



ANALYSIS

The Court turns first to the Defendankgdtion. The Defendants gue that they are

entitled to summary judgment on each of MicDonald’s three remaining claims.
a. Failureto Providea Good Faith Estimate

Mr. McDonald asserts that J.P. Morgahase breached its obligation under RESPA by
“failing to provide a good faith estimate.” Albugh the Amended Complaint specifically asserts
that the J.P. Morgan Chased violated 24 R..B.3500.6, his filings also refer to 24 C.F.R.
83500.7 and 12 U.S.C. § 2604. The regulatooyigions, 24 C.F.R. 88 3500.6 and 3500.7, were
part of “Regulation X,” the implementing regtilbn for RESPA prior to the passage of the
Dodd-Frank Act. Effective July, 2014, these regals were removed and replaced with others
enforced by the ConsumEmancial Protection Bureau. 79 FR 34224208ee Berneike v.
CitiMortgage, Inc, 708 F.3d 1141, 1145 n.3 (10th Cir. 2013). However, in 2009 at the time of
the events giving rise to this lawsutige original regulatins were in effect.

Regulations 3500.6 and 3500.7 implemEaU.S.C. § 2604. In 2009, section 2604(a)
required the Secretary of Housing and Urban Dmpraent to “prepare and distribute booklets to
help persons borrowing money to finance the lpase of residential a¢ estate better to
understand the nature and costseafl estate settlement seesc’ Regulation 3500.6 prescribed
more detailed requirements regarding therimfation booklet. Thughat provision is not
relevant to the claimsserted by Mr. McDonald.

Section 2604(c) required that “[e]ach lender shall include with the booklet a good faith

estimate of the amount or range of charges forifipsettiement servicethe borrower is likely

2 Effective July 2014, 24 C.F.R. § 3500.6 and2B.R. §3500.7 were removed. However, Mr.
McDonald’s claim is premised on a logppéication filed in 2009, when 24 C.F.R. 88 3500.6
and 3500.7 were still in effect.



to incur in connection with theettlement as prescribed bytSecretary.” Regulation 3500.7 set
out detailed requirements fthre good faith estimate.

Neither party distinguishes whether MficDonald’s claim is predicated on the
provisions of the statute &egulation 3500.7. The Defendaatgue that Mr. McDonald’s
claim fails as a matter of law because Mr. Mc Donald has can bring no enforcement action for
violation of the statute or Regulation. Mr. McDonald does not directtiress the argument.

The Court begins with an observation thaiyanstatute can create a private right of
action.See Alexander v. SandoyaB2 U.S. 275, 291 (2001) (“bguage in a regulation may
invoke a private right of actiondh Congress through stiéry text created, but may not create
a right that Congress has ndt."This means that Regtilan 3500.7 gives Mr. McDonald no
right of action.

Whether 12 U.S.C. § 2604 creageprivate right of action requas careful attention to
Congress’ intent either as it is expresseamplied in the language of the statut&ee Boswell
v. Skywest Airlines, Inc361 F.3d 1263, 1267 (10th Cir. 2004) (citi@grt v. Ash422 U.S. 66,

78 (1975)). Thus, whether Mr. McDonald has &ate action to enforce RESPA'’s disclosure
requirements depends upon the language of 12 U.S.C. § 2604.

The Court notes that nothing in 8 2604 explesreates a private enforcement right for
those who benefit from its provisions. Furthermore, no private enforcement rights are implied in
the language 8§ 2604. Instead, its language feomse¢he persons regulated, rather than the
individuals protected. For exanepl8 2604(c) requires that “[e]atdnder shall include with the
booklet a good faith estimateSee alsd.2 U.S.C. 88 2607(d), 2608(b). In addition, the
requirement for a good faith estimate found inJL3.C. 8 2604(c) repted a similar provision

previously found in § 2605 that th@xplicitly provided for a pvate cause of action for its



violation. SeePub.L. No. 93-533 § 6, 88 Stat. 1726 (1974), repealed by Pub.L. No. 94-205 § 5,
89 Stat. 1158 (1976). Congress omitted any gromifor a private right of action when it
amended the statute, suggesting purposeful itdegitminate any privataght of action. Thus
the Court finds nothing in 8 2604ahexpressly or impliedly creates a private enforcement right
and concludes Mr. McDonald’s allegations th&. Morgan Chase violated § 2604(c) do not
give rise to any actionable claf.herefore, the Defendantseaentitled to judgment on this
claim.
b. Failureto Supply Required Notices

Mr. McDonald also asserts that the Dedants violated 24 C.F.R. § 3500.21, (another
provision of Regulation X) by failing to providem with notice as to “who was the lender and
holder of the note”, and that when “defendanhi&asecuritized the plaintiff [sic] note into a
pooled trust REMIC the loan was sold notice was to be provided to plaintiff. The
Defendants argue that 24 C.F.R. § 3500.21(d)(B)(did not require sth notices. Again, Mr.
McDonald does not directly address the issue.

The Court assumes, without determining, that the Defendants did not provide Mr.
McDonald with the notices that he descsb&he question becomes whether 24 C.F.R. §
3500.21(d)(2)(i)(B) required that sudbtices to be given. Hot, Mr. McDonald has no right

that has been violated.

% This conclusion is consonant with the i@ziag of other district courts in the .0
Circuit, and other courts thhtive considered the issuBee, e.gDalton v. Countrywide Home
Loans, Inc. 828 F.Supp.2d 1242, 1249-1250 (D. Colo. 20REese v. 1st Metro. Mortgage Co.
No. CIV.A. 03-2185-KHV, 2003 WL 22454658, at tB. Kan. Oct. 28, 2003) (unpublished);
Dillard v. Bank of New YorkNo. 09-CV-03008-WYD-BNB, 201WL 2714118, at *5 (D. Colo.
July 13, 2011)Collins v. FMHA-USDA105 F.3d 1366, 1367-68 (11th Cir. 1993¥lino v.
Platinum Community Bank28 F.Supp.2d 1226, 1232-33 (S.D. Cal. 208@)son v. JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A707 F. Supp. 2d 309, 317 (E.D.N.Y. 20)ophy v. Chase Manhattan
Mortgage Co,.947 F. Supp. 879, 883 (E.D. Pa. 1996). .

* Amended complaint {9 123-125.



Regulation 24 C.F.R. § 3500.21(d)(1)(i)(&_)enerally required that when the entity
servicing a loan changed, both the old and news would give written notice of the transfer
to the borrower. The regulation contained an eticefo the notice requirement. If the transfer
resulted from a merger acquisition of servicers, nwotice was required. 24 C.F.R. §
3500.21(d)(2)(i)(B).

It is undisputed that the chge in loan servicers of MkcDonald’s loan was due to
mergers—CMMC with Chase Home Financimglahen Chase Home Financing with J.P.
Morgan Chase. Therefore the Defendantsevescepted from the notice requirements under 24
C.F.R. 8 3500.21(d)(1)(i), and are eletit to judgment on this claim.

c. Failureto Respond to Written Requests

Finally, Mr. McDonald assés that the Defendants violated C.R.S. § 38-40-103 by
refusing to respond to his many written requestsnfiormation. Mr. McDonald states that he
wrote J.P. Morgan Chase and Citibank numerous times between 2010 and 2012 requesting that
they provide contact information for the loan holder and servicer.

Under C.R.S. 8§ 38-40-103(2)sarvicer of a loan is reged to “respond in writing
within twenty days from the receipt ofaitten request from the debtor” and to supply
“information concerning the debtor’s loan, whistreadily available to the servicer from its
books and records.” C.R.S. § 38-40-103(2). A debtho is aggrieved by a violation of § 38—
40-103 may bring an action for actual damagessdatutory damages $1,000, plus reasonable
attorney fees and costs, ikthviolation is not remedied in a reasonable, timely and good faith

manner by the party obligateddo so, and after a good faith efftotresolve the dispute is

® Those regulations were later codified atCLE.R. § 1024.2. It appears from the record that
JPMorgan Chase assumed responsibility for senyitdr. McDonald’s loan after its merger with
Chase Home Finance in May 2011, while 24 C.B.BR500.21 was still in effect. However, the
operative portions relative to Mr. McDonadtlaim are identical in each regulation.
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made by the debtor.” C.R.S. § 38—40-104.

The Defendants argue that Mr. McDonald has failed to present evidence sufficient to
establish a violation of C.R.S. § 38-40-103. Shealiy, they argue tat Mr. McDonald has
failed to identify any written request that cotlave been answered with information readily
available to the servicdrom its books and records.

Mr. McDonald does not identify specificallyhich written request he believes the
Defendants should have but didt respond to. Thus, inf#é@ence to Mr. McDonald’pro se
status, the Court has examined all of the evadearovided by the par8eThe record includes
twelve letters sent by Mr. McDonald. These inéusgeveral letters adesed to Zach Smith, a
Homeownership Advisor in Westminster, Coloratheo letters addresséd Annette Rzany with
the Chase Home Mortgage Modification Cengard letters addressedngeally to the Chase
Loan Modification Center and Chase Undativg. All of the correpondence relates to Mr.
McDonald’s efforts to obtain a modification ofshinortgage. In most of this correspondence,
Mr. McDonald provides information and asks only to be advised if more information is
necessary. However, there are a few letters iclwilr. McDonald seeks information. In these,
the information sought pertains to loan modifica rather than loan sdcing. Mr. McDonald
asks about the status of his wars loan modification applicatiormsmd why his applications have
not been approved. Several letters refatacisions made by “Chase Home Mortgage
Modification Center” rather thaly the loan servicer to whothe letter is addressed.

From a facial perspective, it hard to see how these letters fall within C.R.S. § 38-40-
103. Another court has held that any questicsualban modification falls outside of the

provisions of C.R.S. 8 38-40-10%ee Christenson@itiMortgage, Inc Case No. 12—cv—

® In addition, Citibank notes that it was ribe loan servicer and therefore had no
obligation under C.R.S. § 38-40-103.



02600—-CMA—-KLM, 2013 WL 5291947 (D. Colo. Sep8, 2013). But the Court need not reach
such a categorical determination here. It figant to observe that there is no evidence of
record that suggests that théoimation Mr. McDonald sought with regard to loan modification
applications was readily available to tban servicer to whom he wrote.

Although the corporate structural complexitreay have made it hard for Mr. McDonald
to determine the correct entity communicate with about loanoalification issues, C.R.S. § 38—
40-104 has limited reach. It applies only to loawisers and only to information that is readily
found in the loan servics files. Absent a showing thateghoan servicer had the information
that Mr. McDonald requested, Mr. McDondlds no right or remedy under C.R.S. § 38-40-104.

Because Mr. McDonald has not establishgdima facie claim on any theory, there is no
need to separately address Wotion for Summary Judgment.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants Motion for Partial Summary Judgh®nt (
is GRANTED. Mr. McDonald’s Motion #202) is DENIED. All of Plaintiff's claims having
been adjudicated; the Clerk shall enter Judgnmefavor of the Defendants and against the
Plaintiff, and then close this case.

Dated this 2rd day of March, 2015.

BY THE COURT:

Drosce 4. Fhcag,

Marcia S. Krieger
Chief United StateDistrict Judge
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